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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

For personal use only

Your directors present the annual financial report of the Group, consisting of Leopard Resources NL and the entities it controlled
during the period for the financial year ended 30 June 2015. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the
directors report as follows:
DIRECTORS

The names of the directors who held office during or since the end of the year and until the date of this report are as below. Directors
were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.
Jason Ferris – Non‐Executive Director ‐ appointed 28th April 2015.

Mr Ferris has experience spanning 20 Years in corporate finance, property finance and investment finance sectors. Mr Ferris holds an
AFSL and an Australian Credit License and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management (FAIM) as well as a member of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors (MAICD).
Mr Ferris also holds board positions on Diploma Group Limited (DGX) and Windimurra Vanadium Limited (WVL).
During the past 3 years Mr Ferris has not served as a Director of any other listed companies.
Blasie Thomas – Non‐Executive Director – appointed 29th April 2015.

Mr Thomas has over 25 years’ experience in building and managing businesses in Australia and the UK and has held executive level
positions in private and publicly listed companies. His corporate experience has been within Resources, Engineering, Technology and
Banking & Financial Services industries. With expertise across business and market development, contract management, operations,
strategy, finance and people management.
Mr Thomas has advised a number of early‐stage businesses on sales & marketing strategies, leadership structure, commercial
partnerships and investor relations
During the past 3 years Mr Thomas has not served as a director of any other listed companies.

Graham Chapman‐ Non‐Executive Director – appointed 13th May 2015.
A geologist by profession, Mr Chapman has over 35 years in coal in all major producing countries, with an executive career mainly in
BHP Billiton entities, culminating in the role of Vice President Strategy. He was Vice Chairman of the UN ECE Coal Experts Committee
2008. He has recently worked in Colombia, as COO of Colombia Clean Power, Inc, and in Mongolia, as CEO of Sharyn Gol JSC, a major
coal producing company.
Mr Chapman has an MBA, B.Sc (Hons) and is a Fellow Of the Geological Society, London.
During the past 3 years Mr Chapman has not served as a Director of any other listed companies.
Craig Willis – Executive Director

Mr Willis has considerable project management and technology development experience, having held a number of public and private
company directorships including international resource companies. This experience includes listing and management of an exploration
company’s on the Australian Securities Exchange. He has significant experience in dealing with government instrumentalities
pertaining to contract negotiations between private and public entities.
During the last 3 years Mr Willis has not served as a director of any listed companies.
Richard Griffin – Non‐Executive Director resigned 28th April 2015
Mr Griffin has over 28 years of International project experience in mining, petroleum, and engineering environments within Australia,
Asia, United States, Europe and New Zealand with specialist skills in project evaluation, management and development.

Currently advising several exploration and resource listed companies, providing strategic and operational management from the early
stages of project appraisal through to ongoing production management.
During the last 3 years Mr Griffin has not served as a director of any listed companies.
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Douglas Spinley – Non‐Executive Director – resigned 29th April 2015
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Mr Spinley has more than 40 years corporate global experience, having held executive positions in mining, oil and gas, agricultural and
manufacturing companies in Australia, New Zealand, S.E. Asia and the South Pacific. Mr. Spinley is a Chartered Accountant and also
holds a Bachelor of Commerce and is a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia.
During the past 3 years, Mr Spinley has not served as a director of any other listed companies.
COMPANY SECRETARY
Damon Sweeny – Company Secretary

Damon holds a Master of Business Administration and is a Chartered Secretary. Damon has over 25 years of mining industry
experience, more recently in the corporate services sphere. He has held a number of private company directorships as well as private
and public governance roles.
INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY AND RELATED BODIES CORPORATE

The following relevant interests in shares and options of the company or a related body corporate were held by the directors as at the
date of this report.
Directors and Officers
Jason Ferris
Blaise Thomas
Graham Chapman
Craig Willis

Number of options over
ordinary shares
‐
‐
‐
‐

Number of fully paid ordinary
shares
Nil
Nil
Nil
20,100,000

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The operating result for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 for the Group was an after tax loss of $3,076,916 (2014:$1,097,169).
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
Capital Structure
The Group has a net liability position at 30 June 2015 of $1,706,811 (2014: net assets of $1,122,980).

Treasury Policy
The Board has considered it is not necessary to establish a separate treasury function because of the size and scope of the Group’s
activities.
Liquidity and Funding
The Group has cash resources of $6,348 at 30 June 2015 (2014:$42,316), and holds available‐for‐sale financial assets of $5,262
(2014:$20,748). The Company also has available a further $800,000 in uncalled capital on partly paid shares.

Risk Management
The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities,
are identified on a timely basis and that the Group’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and opportunities identified by
the Board. The Group believes that it is crucial for all Board members to be a part of this process, and as such the Board has not
established a separate risk management committee.

Page 5

Leopard Resources NL
Annual Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2015
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D)
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MISSION CABLES PROJECT
Exploration Licence 37/747 (“EL”) was granted on 18 March 2005. It was acquired by Leopard on 13 May 2013. Since acquiring the EL,
Leopard has undertaken significant exploration including an initial 24 hole RC drilling program followed by 3,000 metres of further
exploration drilling to define a JORC Resource. Over that period, Leopard has spent $1,200,000 on exploration costs (in addition to the
$600,000 it paid as purchase consideration). This expenditure on exploration is approximately six times the minimum expenditure
required over that period.
The term of the EL having been renewed since grant, expired on 17 March 2015. Prior to that date Leopard could (and should) have
applied under section 61(2)(b) (now repealed but still applicable to the EL) for a further extension of term on the basis of “exceptional
circumstances”.
The Company has sought legal advice and has applied to the Minister as a formal submission under s 111A of the Mining Act.

The outcome of the 111A submission as of the date of the signing of this report is unknown. However Leopard Resources will exhaust
all possible avenues in relation to the tenement, to ensure the tenement is under control of the company. Due to the uncertainty
surrounding tenure of the asset the capitalised expenditure in relation to this asset has been impaired fully at balance date.
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the year‐end the company has entered into an agreement to acquire G8 Communications Limited (“G8”) an investment
company holding various wireless technology assets including the 100% ownership of Connected IO (“CIO”), a highly prospective next
generation wireless technology business. G8 was originally formed to hold its investment in the wireless technology known as ICU
Wireless Intercoms, however G8 has expanded through aligning itself with wireless technical experts in the USA and Taiwan and now
has a range of wireless products.
CIO is a next generation wireless technology business based in Silicon Valley, California which has developed a flagship product being
the Machine Connect modem. CIO has fully developed and is now marketing this unique machine to machine (“M2M”) device for
intelligent connectivity between machines.
M2M is a term that can be used to describe any technology that enables networked devices to exchange information and perform
actions without the manual assistance of humans.

The M2M phenomenon is accelerating and has the potential to affect about every device requiring connection to the internet. CIO’s
technology is mobile, rugged and has enormous versatility. It uses a cloud management platform to provide a way to connect
enterprise machine assets such as vending machines, ATM’s, lights, household appliances, digital signage, security systems, energy
management systems and drones to the internet.
It is a scalable end‐to‐end solution that enables customers to roll out M2M solutions in a timely, streamlined and cost‐effective
manner.
Material Terms of Acquisition
A summary of the key terms of the Acquisition Agreement and associated transactions are as follows:

•

Consideration: the Company has agreed to issue 200 million fully paid shares in LRR on a post consolidation basis (60:1) for
100% interest, subject to the satisfactory completion of due diligence, shareholder and regulatory approval
(“Consideration”).
Pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, Milestone shares will be issued to the vendors on the satisfaction of
certain milestone revenue targets.


Milestone (1) $15,000,000 in revenues during the years 2016, 2017 or 2018 the vendors will be issued 100,000,000
fully paid ordinary shares @ $0.02; and



Milestone (2) $25,000,000 in revenues during the years 2016, 2017 or 2018 the vendors will be issued 50,000,000
fully paid ordinary shares@ $0.02.
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•

•

Conditions: The Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of the following key conditions:

Formal agreement: Entry into formal documentation in relation to the Acquisition and associated issue of the
prospectus;

Shareholder and regulatory approvals: the Company obtaining all necessary shareholder and regulatory approval;
and

Due diligence: The Company completing due diligence in respect of the Acquisition to its satisfaction within 30
days
End date: The end date for completing the Acquisition is November 2015.

Funding for Acquisition

•

Leopard is also pleased to advise that it is seeking to raise up to $1,000,000 by way of a convertible note raising which is to
be completed in two tranches of $500,000. The notes will convert at a rate of $0.01 per share (on a post consolidation
basis) and are subject to escrow and shareholder approval. The first tranche of $500,000 will be utilised to pay outstanding
creditors, re‐compliance costs and for general working capital. The second tranche of $500,000 will be utilised for G8’s
working capital.

The company will also undertake a capital raising of $3,000,000 to fund the ongoing operation and expansion of G8 Communications
and provide additional general working capital.
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group to the date of this report, not otherwise disclosed.
DIVIDENDS
No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend in respect of the financial year.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the entities within the Group during the year were mineral exploration and investment. There have been no
significant changes in the nature of those activities during the year.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
Comments on likely developments and expected results have been covered generally herein and under the heading ‘Review of
Operations’ in this Report. The Company will also continue to pursue other potential investment opportunities to enhance shareholder
value.

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations have not
been included in this report because the Directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the number of meetings
attended by each director were as follows:

Name of Director
Jason Ferris
Blaise Thomas
Graham Chapman
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley

Directors’ Meetings
Meetings eligible to
attend
Number attended
0
0
0
0
0
0
8
8
8
8
8
8
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This report, which forms part of the directors’ report, details the nature and amount of remuneration for Key Management Personnel
of Leopard Resources NL (the “Company”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. The information provided in this remuneration
report has been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.
For the purposes of this report Key Management Personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director
(whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company.
For the purposes of this report the term “executive” includes those key management personnel who are not directors of the parent
company.

Remuneration Committee
The full Board carries out the role and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee and is responsible for determining and
reviewing the compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves, the Managing Director and any Executives.
Executive remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to individual and business performance, relevant comparative
remuneration and internal and independent external advice.

A.
Remuneration policy
The board policy is to remunerate directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities. The board determines
payments to the directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent
external advice is sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of directors’ fees that can be paid is subject to approval by
shareholders in general meeting, from time to time. Fees for non‐executive directors are not linked to the performance of the Group.
However, to align directors’ interests with shareholders interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company.

The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that will attract and retain high‐calibre directors and employees. Company officers and
directors are remunerated to a level consistent with the size of the Company.

The executive directors and full time executives receive a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the government, which
is currently 9.5%, and do not receive any other retirement benefits. Some individuals, however, may choose to sacrifice part of their
salary to increase payments towards superannuation.
All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed.

The Board believes that it has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are appropriate for an organisation of this size and
maturity.
The Company did not pay any performance‐based component of remuneration during the year.
B.
Remuneration structure
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non‐executive director and executive compensation is
separate and distinct.
Non‐executive Director Compensation

Objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain directors of
the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.
Structure
The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate compensation of non‐executive directors shall be determined
from time to time by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the directors as
agreed.

The amount of aggregate compensation sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst
directors is reviewed annually. The Board considers advice from external consultants as well as the fees paid to non‐executive
directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. Non‐Executive Directors’ remuneration may include
an incentive portion consisting of options, as considered appropriate by the Board, which may be subject to Shareholder approval in
accordance with ASX listing rules.
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Separate from their duties as Directors, the Non‐Executive Directors undertake work for the Company directly related to the
evaluation and implementation of various business opportunities, including mineral exploration/evaluation and new business
ventures, for which they receive a rate as pursuant to individual agreements with the non‐executive directors and are not taken into
account when determining their aggregate remuneration levels.
Executive Compensation
Objective
The entity aims to reward executives with a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their position and responsibilities
within the entity so as to:
 reward executives for company and individual performance against targets set by appropriate benchmarks;
 align the interests of executives with those of shareholders;
 link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and
 ensure total compensation is competitive by market standards.

Structure
In determining the level and make‐up of executive remuneration, the Board negotiates remuneration to reflect the market salary for a
position and individual of comparable responsibility and experience. Due to the limited size of the Company and of its operations and
financial affairs, the use of a separate remuneration committee is not considered appropriate. Remuneration is regularly compared
with the external market by participation in industry salary surveys and during recruitment activities generally. If required, the Board
may engage an external consultant to provide independent advice in the form of a written report detailing market levels of
remuneration for comparable executive roles.
Remuneration consists of a fixed remuneration and a long term incentive portion as considered appropriate.
Compensation may consist of the following key elements:

Fixed Compensation;

Variable Compensation;

Short Term Incentive (STI); and

Long Term Incentive (LTI).

Fixed Remuneration
The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the position and is
competitive in the market. Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board having regard to the Company and individual
performance, relevant comparable remuneration in the mining exploration sector and external advice.
The fixed remuneration is a base salary or monthly consulting fee.

Variable Pay — Long Term Incentives
The objective of long term incentives is to reward directors/executives in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the
creation of shareholder wealth. The incentive portion is payable based upon attainment of objectives related to the
director’s/executive’s job responsibilities. The objectives vary, but all are targeted to relate directly to the Company’s business and
financial performance and thus to shareholder value.
Long term incentives (LTI’s) granted to directors/ executives are delivered in the form of options.
LTI granted to executives are delivered in the form of employee share options. These options are issued at an exercise price
determined by the Board at the time of issue. The employee share options generally vest over a selected period.

The objective of granting options is to reward executives in a manner which aligns the element of remuneration with the creation of
shareholder wealth. As such LTI’s are made to executives who are able to influence the generation of shareholder wealth and thus
have an impact on the Company’s performance.
The level of LTI granted is, in turn, dependent on the Company’s recent share price performance, the seniority of the executive, and
the responsibilities the executive assumes in the Company.

Typically, the grant of LTIs occur at the commencement of employment or in the event that the individual receives a promotion and,
as such, is not subsequently affected by the individual’s performance over time.
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Employment contracts of directors and senior executives
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Directors
The following persons were directors of Leopard Resources NL during the financial year:
Craig Willis
Richard Griffin
Douglas Spinley
Jason Ferris
Blaise Thomas
Graham Chapman

Executive Director
Non‐Executive Director – Resigned 28 April 2015
Non‐Executive Director – Resigned 29 April 2015
Non‐Executive Director –Appointed 28 April 2015
Non‐Executive Director ‐ Appointed 29 April 2015
Non‐Executive Director ‐ Appointed 13 May 2015

Executives
There were no persons that fulfilled the role of a key management person, other than those disclosed as Directors.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Key Management Personnel are formalised in service agreements. Major
provisions of these agreements are set out below:
C S Willis

Term of agreement – 1 year commencing 1 July 2014, renewable at term by mutual agreement, and was renewed by mutual
agreement for a further 12 months.

Base retainer to be reviewed annually.

Annual retainer ‐ $144,000 plus directors fees of $30,000 and superannuation.

Either party may terminate the engagement at any time by three month’s written notice. Fees are payable up until the
termination takes effect.

R Griffin

Term of agreement – 1 year commencing 1 July 2014, renewable at term by mutual agreement, and was renewed by mutual
agreement for a further 12 months.

Base retainer to be reviewed annually.

Annual retainer ‐ $108,000 plus directors fees of $30,000 and Superannuation.

Either party may terminate the engagement at any time by three month’s written notice. Fees are payable up until the
termination takes effect.
D Spinley

Term of agreement – 9 months commencing 21 October 2014, renewable at term by mutual agreement, and was renewed by
mutual agreement for a further 12 months.

Base retainer to be reviewed annually.

Annual retainer ‐ $105,000 plus directors fees of $30,000 and Superannuation.

Either party may terminate the engagement at any time by three month’s written notice. Fees are payable up until the
termination takes effect.
J Ferris

Receives a non‐executive fee of $60,000.00 p.a.

B Thomas

Receives a non‐executive fee of $60,000.00 p.a.
.
G Chapman

Receives a non‐executive fee of $60,000.00 p.a.
.
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Details of the remuneration of Key Management Personnel of the Company, including their personally‐related entities, during the years
ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015 were as follows:

Short Term
Benefits

30 June 2014
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley
A Hamilton
Total

Salary and
fees
$
174,000
149,850
72,823
89,239
485,912

Short Term
Benefits

30 June 2015
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley
J Ferris
B Thomas
G Chapman
Total

Salary and
fees
$
174,000
99,376
103,388
10,500
10,333
7,742
405,339

Post
Employment
Benefits
Super‐
annuation
$
2,850
‐
23,016
‐
25,866
Post
Employment
Benefits
Super‐
annuation
$
2,850
2,376
2,646
‐
‐
‐
7,872

Equity
Based
Benefits
Shares and
Options
$
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Total
$
176,850
149,850
95,839
89,239
511,778

Total unpaid at
date of this
report
$
83,850
36,618
56,744
‐
177,212

Total
$
176,850
101,752
106,034
10,500
10,333
7,742
413,211

Total unpaid at
date of this
report
$
265,100
120,931
150,953
10,500
10,333
7,742
565,559

Equity
Based
Benefits
Shares and
Options
$
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Remuneration
consisting of
equity
during the year
%
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Remuneration
consisting of
equity
during the year
%
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

The directors have provided to the Company letters of support to not call on their outstanding payables until such time that the
Company is in a position to make the outstanding payments.

There were no performance related payments made during the year. Performance hurdles are not attached to remuneration options,
however the Board determines appropriate vesting periods to provide rewards over a period of time to Key Management Personnel.
The Group does not have any full time executive officers, other than directors as detailed above.
E.

Compensation options to Key Management Personnel

No options were granted as equity compensation benefits to Key Management Personnel during the year.

F.

Shares issued to Key Management Personnel on exercise of compensation options

No shares were issued to Key Management Personnel on exercise of compensation options during the year.
G.

Options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year

During the year ended 30 June 2015 there were no options granted, exercised or lapsed to Key Management Personnel
(2014: 20,700,000).
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H.

Option holdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2014
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley

Granted in lieu
of
Remuneration

Balance
01/07/13
20,000,000
7,000,000
‐

Options
Exercised
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

Net Change
Other
(20,000,000)*
(7,000,000)*
‐

Balance
30/06/14

Vested and
Exercisable
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

*Options expired, unexercised at 30 June 2014

30 June 2015
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley
J Ferris
B Thomas
G Chapman

I.

Granted in lieu
of
Remuneration

Balance
01/07/14
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Options
Exercised
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Net Change
Other
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Balance
30/06/15
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Vested and
Exercisable
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2014
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley (i)

Balance
01/07/13
20,100,000
7,550,000
‐

Granted in lieu of
Remuneration
‐
‐
‐

Options
Exercised

30 June 2015
C Willis
R Griffin
D Spinley
J Ferris
B Thomas
G Chapman

Balance
01/07/14
20,100,000
9,191,000
15,500,000
‐
‐
‐

Granted in lieu of
Remuneration
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Options
Exercised

Net Change
Other
‐
‐
‐

‐
1,641,000
15,500,000

Net Change
Other
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Balance
30/06/14
20,100,000
9,191,000
15,500,000

Balance
30/06/15
20,100,000
9,191,000
15,500.000
‐
‐
‐

All equity transactions with Key Management Personnel have been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than
those the Group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.
J.

Loans with Key Management Personnel

There were no loans to key management personnel or their related entities during the financial year.
K.

Other transactions and balances with Key Management Personnel

The terms and conditions of transactions with Directors and their Director‐related entities were no more favourable than those
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non‐director related entities on an arm’s
length basis.

Page 12

Leopard Resources NL
Annual Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2015
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D)
The aggregate amount recognised during the year payable to Directors and their Director‐related entities were as follows:
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Craig Willis
Rent expense of $76,082 – (excluding GST) (2014;$60,200) was unpaid to Mr Willis’ related company Giarc Investments Pty Ltd during
the year. $359,922 (excluding GST) (2014: $126,130) remains unpaid in respect of Director, consulting fees and rent.
Richard Griffin
$120,931 (excluding GST) (2014:$44,697) remains unpaid in respect of Director fees and consulting fees.
Doug Spinley
$151,790 (excluding GST) (2014:$40,165) remains unpaid in respect of Director and Consulting fees.
Jason Ferris
$10,500 (excluding GST) remains unpaid in respect of Director fees.

Blaise Thomas
$10,300 (excluding GST) remains unpaid in respect of Director fees.
Graham Chapman
$7,742 (excluding GST) remains unpaid in respect of Director fees.
**********END OF REMUNERATION REPORT**********

SHARE OPTIONS
At the date of this report unissued shares or interests of the company under option are nil (2014:696,997,667).

No shares have been issued by virtue of the exercise of an option during the year or to the date of this report.
No person entitled to exercise these options had or has any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of any other
body corporate.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group’s operations are subject to various environmental regulations. The directors have complied with these regulations and are
not aware of any breaches of the legislation during the current financial year and up until the date of this report which are material in
nature.
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The company has agreed to indemnify all the directors of the company for any liabilities to another person (other than the company or
related body corporate) that may arise from their position as directors of the company and its controlled entities, except where the
liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.

During the financial year the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors and officers of the company and
its controlled entities against any liability incurred in the course of their duties to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.
The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the
Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.
NON‐AUDIT SERVICES
No non‐audit services were provided by our auditors, HLB Mann Judd, during the year ended 30 June 2015.
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Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires our auditors, HLB Mann Judd, to provide the directors of the Company with an
Independence Declaration in relation to the audit of the financial report. This Independence Declaration is set out on page 15 and
forms part of this directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2015.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

Mr C Willis
Director
PERTH, Western Australia
Dated: 23rd September 2015
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Leopard Resources NL for the year
ended 30 June 2015, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no
contraventions of:
a)

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and

b)

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Perth, Western Australia
23 September 2015

N G Neill
Partner

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) ABN 22 193 232 714
Level 4, 130 Stirling Street Perth WA 6000. PO Box 8124 Perth BC 6849 Telephone +61 (08) 9227 7500. Fax +61 (08) 9227 7533.
Email: hlb@hlbwa.com.au. Website: http://www.hlb.com.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of

International, a worldwide organisation of accounting firms and business advisers.
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The Board of Directors of Leopard Resources NL is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides and
monitors the business and affairs of Leopard Resources NL on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they
are accountable. This statement reports on Leopard Resources NL’s key governance principles and practices.
1.

COMPLIANCE WITH BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

The Company, as a listed entity, must comply with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Limited (ASX) Listing Rules. The ASX Listing
Rules require the Company to report on the extent to which it has followed the Corporate Governance Recommendations published
by the ASX Corporate Governance Council (ASXCGC). Where a recommendation has not been followed, that fact is disclosed, together
with the reasons for the departure.
The table below summaries the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Council’s Recommendations:
Principle #

Principle 1

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

Reference

Comply

Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
1.1

Establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to
senior executives and disclose those functions.
Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior
executives.

2(a)

Yes

2(h), 3(b),
Remuneration Report

Yes

1.3

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 1.

2(a), 2(h), 3(b),
Remuneration Report

Yes

2.1
2.2
2.3

A majority of the board should be independent directors.
The chair should be an independent director.
The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised
by the same individual.
The Board should establish a nomination committee.
Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its
committees and individual directors.
Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 2.

2(b), 2(e)
2(c), 2(e)
2(b), 2(c)

No
No
No

2(d)
2(h)

No
Yes

2(b), 2(c), 2(d), 2(e),
2(h)

Yes

4(a)

Yes

4(b)

No

4 (c)

No

4 (d)

Yes

4(a), 4(b)

Yes

1.2

Principle 2

Structure the board to add value

2.4
2.5
2.6

Principle 3

Promote ethical and responsible decision‐making
3.1

Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary as to:



the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s
integrity;



the practices necessary to take into account the Company’s legal
obligations and the reasonable expectations of its stakeholders;
and



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting
and investigating reports of unethical practices.
Establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the
policy or a summary of that policy. The policy should include
requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for
achieving gender diversity for the board to assess annually both the
objectives and progress in achieving them.
Disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving
gender diversity set by the board in accordance with the diversity
policy and progress towards achieving them.
Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of
women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior
executive positions and women on the board.
Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 3.
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Principle 4

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

Reference

Comply

3(a)
3(a)

Yes
No

3(a)
3(a)

Yes
Yes

Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
4.1
4.2

The Board should establish an audit committee.
The audit committee should be structured so that it:





consists only of non‐executive directors;
consists of a majority of independent directors;
is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the Board;
and



4.3
4.4

Principle 5

has at least three members.
The audit committee should have a formal charter
Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 4.
Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1

Establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX
Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at
senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies
or a summary of those policies.

5(a), 5(b)

Yes

5.2

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 5.

5(a), 5(b)

Yes

6.1

Design a communications policy for promoting effective
communication with shareholders and encouraging their participation
at general meetings and disclose the policy or a summary of that
policy.
Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 6.

5(a), 5(b)

Yes

5(a), 5(b)

Yes

6(a)

Yes

6(a), 6(b), 6(d)

Yes

Principle 6

Respect the rights of shareholders

6.2

Principle 7

Recognise and manage risk
7.1
7.2

Establish policies for the oversight and management of material
business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.
The Board should require management to design and implement the
risk management and internal control system to manage the
Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those
risks are being managed effectively. The Board should disclose that
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the
Company’s management of its material business risks.

7.3

The Board should disclose whether it had received assurance from the
chief executive officer and the chief financial officer that the
declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the
Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management
and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

6(c)

Yes

7.4

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 7.

6(a), 6(b), 6(c), 6(d)

Yes

3(b)
3(b), Remuneration
Report

No
No

Principle 8

Remunerate fairly and responsibly
8.1
8.2

The Board should establish a remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:
• consists of a majority of independent directors
• is chaired by an independent chair
• has at least three members.
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8.3

8.3

Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non‐executive
directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and senior
executives
Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on
principle 8.

Yes

3(b)

Yes

2.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

2(a)

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is accountable to the shareholders and investors for the overall performance of the Company and takes
responsibility for monitoring the Company’s business and affairs and setting its strategic direction, establishing and overseeing
the Company’s financial position.

2(b)

The Board is responsible for:










ensuring the Company’s conduct and activities are ethical and carried out for the benefit of all its stakeholders;
development of corporate strategy, implementation of business plans and performance objectives;
reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management, codes of conduct and legal and regulatory compliance;
the appointment of the Company’s Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent), Chief Financial Officer,
Company Secretary and other senior executives;
monitoring senior executives’ performance and implementation of strategy;
determining appropriate remuneration policies;
allocating resources and ensuring appropriate resources are available to management;
approving and monitoring the annual budget, progress of major capital expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions
and divestitures; and
approving and monitoring financial and other reporting.

Other than as specifically reserved to the Board, responsibility for the day‐to‐day management of the Company’s business
activities is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Management.
Board Composition
The Directors determine the composition of the Board employing the following principles:






the Board, in accordance with the Company’s constitution must comprise a minimum of three Directors;
the roles of the Chairman of the Board and of the Chief Executive Officer should be exercised by different individuals;
the majority of the Board should comprise Directors who are non‐executive;
the Board should represent a broad range of qualifications, experience and expertise considered of benefit to the
Company; and
the Board must be structured in such a way that it has a proper understanding of, and competency in, the current and
emerging issues facing the Company, and can effectively review management’s decisions.

The Board is currently comprised of one Executive Director and two Non‐Executive Directors. During the whole of the financial
year there was not a majority of Non‐Executive Directors. Given the size and scale of the Company’s operations during the
year, the Board did not consider it essential to appoint further Non‐Executive Directors simply to comply with the Corporate
Governance Council’s Recommendations.
The skills, experience, expertise, qualifications and terms of office of each director in office at the date of the annual report is
included in the Directors’ Report.
The Company’s constitution requires one‐third of the Directors (or the next lowest whole number) to retire by rotation at each
Annual General Meeting (AGM). The Directors to retire at each AGM are those who have been longest in office since their last
election. Where Directors have served for equal periods, they may agree amongst themselves or determine by lot who will
retire. A Director must retire in any event at the third AGM since he or she was last elected or re‐elected. Retiring Directors
may offer themselves for re‐election.
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A Director appointed as an additional or casual Director by the Board will hold office until the next AGM when they may be re‐
elected.

2(c)

2(d)

2(e)

The Managing Director is not subject to retirement by rotation and, along with any Director appointed as an additional or
casual Director, is not to be taken into account in determining the number of Directors required to retire by rotation.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The Chairman is responsible for:







leadership of the Board;
the efficient organisation and conduct of the Board’s functions;
the promotion of constructive and respectful relations between Board members and between the Board and
management;
contributing to the briefing of Directors in relation to issues arising at Board meetings;
facilitating the effective contribution of all Board members; and
committing the time necessary to effectively discharge the role of the Chairman.

During the year, the Chairman was not independent. The role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are exercised by the
same person. Given the size and scale of the Company’s operations during the year, the Board did not consider it essential to
appoint an independent Chairman simply in order to comply with the Corporate Governance Council’s Recommendations. The
Board had considered this matter and decided that the non‐compliance did not affect the operation of the Company.
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for:



implementing the Company’s strategies and policies; and
the day‐to‐day management of the Company’s business activities

The Board specifies that the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate roles to be undertaken by
separate people.
Due to the nature of the Company’s current activities it does not currently have a Chief Executive Officer and this role is
effectively undertaken by the executive director. The Board considers that, at this stage of the Company’s development, the
executive role carried out by the director is in the best interests of the Company. The Board will monitor the need to separate
these roles as the Company’s circumstances change.
Nomination Committee
The Company does not comply with ASX Recommendation 2.4. The Company is not of a relevant size to consider formation of
a nomination committee to deal with the selection and appointment of new Directors and as such a nomination committee
has not been formed.
Nominations of new Directors are considered by the full Board. If any vacancies arise on the Board, all directors are involved in
the search and recruitment of a replacement. The Board has taken a view that the full Board will hold special meetings or
sessions as required. The Board are confident that this process for selection and review is stringent and full details of all
Directors are provided to shareholders in the annual report and on the Company’s website.
Independent Directors
The Company recognises that independent Directors are important in assuring shareholders that the Board is properly fulfilling
its role and is diligent in holding senior management accountable for its performance. The Board assesses each of the directors
against specific criteria to decide whether they are in a position to exercise independent judgment.
Directors of Leopard Resources NL are considered to be independent when they are independent of management and free
from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially
interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.
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In making this assessment, the Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances. Relationships that the Board will take into
consideration when assessing independence are whether a Director:






is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial
shareholder of the Company;
is employed, or has previously been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another Company member, and
there has not been a period of at least three years between ceasing such employment and serving on the Board;
has within the last three years been a principal of a material professional advisor or a material consultant to the Company
or another Company member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided;
is a material supplier or customer of the Company or other Company member, or an officer of or otherwise associated
directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer; or
has a material contractual relationship with the Company or another Company member other than as a Director.

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following Directors of Leopard
Resources NL are considered to be independent:
Richard Griffin
Doug Spinley

Non‐Executive Director‐Resigned 28 April 2015
Non‐Executive Director‐Resigned 29 April 2015

The Following persons were Directors of Leopard Resources NL during the financial year:
Name
Position
Richard Griffin
Non‐Executive Director‐Resigned 28 April 2015
Doug Spinley
Non‐Executive Director‐Resigned 29 April 2015
Craig Willis
Executive Director
Jason Ferris
Non‐Executive Director
Blaise Thomas
Non‐Executive Director
Graham Chapman
Non‐Executive Director
The Board is currently comprised of three independent Non‐Executive Directors and One Executive Director. Given the size and
scale of the Company’s operations during the year, the Board did not consider it essential to appoint further Non‐Executive
Directors simply to comply with the Corporate Governance Council’s Recommendations.

2(f)

Avoidance of conflicts of interest by a Director
In order to ensure that any interests of a Director in a particular matter to be considered by the Board are known by each
Director, each Director is required by the Company to disclose any relationships, duties or interests held that may give rise to a
potential conflict. Directors are required to adhere strictly to constraints on their participation and voting in relation to any
matters in which they may have an interest.

2(g)

Board access to information and independent advice
Directors are able to access members of the management team at any time to request relevant information.

2(h)

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.
Review of Board performance
The performance of the Board is reviewed regularly by the Chairman. The Chairman conducts performance evaluations which
involve an assessment of each Board member’s performance against specific and measurable qualitative and quantitative
performance criteria. The Board member assessment measures are the responsibility of the Chairman. The performance
criteria against which directors and executives are assessed is aligned with the financial and non‐financial objectives of Leopard
Resources NL. Primarily, the review will be carried out through consultation by the Chairman and with individual Directors.
Directors whose performance is consistently unsatisfactory may be asked to retire.

3.

BOARD COMMITTEES

3(a)

Audit Committee
Given the size and scale of the Company’s operations the full Board undertakes the role of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee does not comply with ASX Recommendation 4.2 as the Chairman of the Board is Chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee does not comprise only of Non‐Executive Directors. The role and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are summarised below.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting and overseeing the
independence of the external auditors. The Board sets aside time to deal with issues and responsibilities usually delegated to
the Audit Committee to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and the independence of the auditor.

3(b)

The Board reviews the audited annual and half‐year financial statements and any reports which accompany published financial
statements and recommends their approval to the members. The Board also reviews annually the appointment of the external
auditor, their independence and their fees.
The Board is also responsible for establishing policies on risk oversight and management. The Company has not formed a
separate Risk Management Committee due to the size and scale of its operations.
External Auditors
The Company’s policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence. The performance of
the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender of external audit services are requested as deemed
appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs. It is HLB Mann Judd’s
policy to rotate engagement partners on listed companies at least every five years.
An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break‐down of fees for non‐audit services, is provided in the notes
to the financial statements in the Annual Report.
There is no indemnity provided by the Company to the auditor in respect of any potential liability to third parties.
The external auditor is requested to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions
about the conduct of the audit and preparation and content of the audit report.
There were no non‐audit services provided by the auditors during the year.
Remuneration Committee
The role of a Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect of establishing
appropriate remuneration levels and incentive policies for employees.
The Board has not established a separate Remuneration Committee due to the size and scale of its operations. This does not
comply with Recommendation 8.1 however the Board as a whole takes responsibility for such issues.
The responsibilities include setting policies for senior officers remuneration, setting the terms and conditions for the Chief
Executive Officer, reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s incentive schemes and
superannuation arrangements, reviewing the remuneration of both executive and non‐executive directors and undertaking
reviews of the Chief Executive Officer’s performance.
The Company has structured the remuneration of its senior executive, where applicable, such that it comprises a fixed salary,
statutory superannuation and, where applicable, participation in the Company’s employee share option plan. The Company
believes that by remunerating senior executives in this manner it rewards them for performance and aligns their interests with
those of shareholders and increases the Company’s performance.
Non‐Executive Directors are paid their fees out of the maximum aggregate amount approved by shareholders for Non‐
Executive Director remuneration. The Company does not adhere to Recommendation 8.2 Box 8.2 ‘Non‐Executive Directors
should not receive options or bonus payments’. The Company may, in the future, grant options to Non‐Executive Directors.
The Board is of the view that options (for both Executive and Non‐Executive Directors) are a cost effective benefit for small
companies such as Leopard Resources NL that seek to conserve cash reserves. They also provide an incentive that ultimately
benefits both shareholders and the optionholders, as optionholders will only benefit if the market value of the underlying
shares exceeds the option strike price. Ultimately, shareholders will make that determination.
The board policy is to remunerate Directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities. The Board determines
payments to the Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability.
Independent external advice is sought when required. Fees for Non‐Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of
the Group. However, to align Directors’ interests with shareholders interests, the Directors are encouraged to hold shares in
the Company.
The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that will attract and retain high‐calibre directors and employees. Company
officers and Directors are remunerated to a level consistent with the size of the Company.
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The Board believes that it has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are appropriate for an organisation of this
size and maturity.
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non‐Executive Director and Executive compensation is
separate and distinct.
In determining remuneration, the Board has taken a view that the full Board will hold special meetings or sessions as required.
No Director participated in any deliberation regarding his or her own remuneration or related issues. The Board are confident
that this process for determining remuneration is stringent and full details of remuneration policies and remuneration received
by Directors and Executives in the current period is contained in the “Remuneration Report” within the Directors’ Report of
the Annual Report.

4.

ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING

4(a)

Code of Ethics and Conduct
The Board endeavours to ensure that the Directors, officers and employees of the Company act with integrity and observe the
highest standards of behaviour and business ethics in relation to their corporate activities. The “Code of Conduct” sets out the
principles, practices, and standards of personal behaviour the Company expects people to adopt in their daily business
activities.

4(b)

All Directors, officers and employees are required to comply with the Code of Conduct. Senior managers are expected to
ensure that employees, contractors, consultants, agents and partners under their supervision are aware of the Company’s
expectations as set out in the Code of Conduct.
All Directors, officers and employees are expected to:





comply with the law;
act in the best interests of the Company;
be responsible and accountable for their actions; and
observe the ethical principles of fairness, honesty and truthfulness, including prompt disclosure of potential conflicts.

Trading in Company securities by Directors and employees
The Board has adopted a Securities Trading Policy which complies with the requirements of Listing Rule 12.12 which regulates
dealings by Directors, officers and employees in securities issued by the Company.
The policy, which is available on the Company’s website, includes the Company’s closed periods, restrictions on trading that
apply to the Company’s Key Management Personnel, trading that is not subject to the policy, exceptional circumstances in
which key management personnel may be permitted to trade during a prohibited period with prior written clearance and the
procedure for obtaining written clearance. The policy provides that Directors, Officers and employees must not enter into
transactions or arrangements which operate to limit the economic risk of their security holding in the Company without first
seeking and obtaining written acknowledgement from the Board.

4(c)

Diversity Policy
Given the size and nature of the Company, the Board has not implemented a diversity policy at the date of this report.

4(d)

Women declaration
During the year the Company did not employ any Women in its senior management or Board members.

5.

TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

5(a)

Shareholder communication
The Company believes that all shareholders should have equal and timely access to material information about the Company
including its financial situation, performance, ownership and governance. The Company’s “ASX Disclosure Policy” encourages
effective communication with its shareholders by requiring that Company announcements:







be factual and subject to internal vetting and authorisation before issue;
be made in a timely manner;
not omit material information;
be expressed in a clear and objective manner to allow investors to assess the impact of the information when making
investment decisions;
be in compliance with ASX Listing Rules continuous disclosure requirements; and
be placed on the Company’s website promptly following release.
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6.

6(a)

6(b)

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings. Copies of addresses by the Chairman or Chief Executive
Officer are disclosed to the market and posted on the Company’s website. The Company’s external auditor attends the
Company’s annual general meeting to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the audit report, the accounting policies adopted by the Company and the independence of the auditor in relation
to the conduct of the audit.
Continuous disclosure policy
The Company is committed to ensuring that shareholders and the market are provided with full and timely information and
that all stakeholders have equal opportunities to receive externally available information issued by the Company. The
Company’s “ASX Disclosure Policy” described in 5(a) reinforces the Company’s commitment to continuous disclosure and
outline management’s accountabilities and the processes to be followed for ensuring compliance.
The policy also contains guidelines on information that may be price sensitive. The Company Secretary has been nominated as
the person responsible for communications with the ASX. This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the
continuous disclosure requirements with the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing and coordinating information disclosure to the
ASX.
RECOGNISING AND MANAGING RISK
The Board is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk management, compliance and internal
control systems. The Company’s policies are designed to ensure strategic, operational, legal, reputation and financial risks are
identified, assessed, effectively and efficiently managed and monitored to enable achievement of the Company’s business
objectives. A written policy in relation to risk oversight and management has been established (“Audit and Risk Management
Charter”). Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment. There is an organisation structure
with clearly drawn responsibilities.
Board oversight of the risk management system
The Company is not currently considered to be of a size, nor is its affairs of such complexity to justify the establishment of a
separate Risk Management Committee. Instead, the Board, as part of its usual role and through direct involvement in the
management of the Company’s operations ensures risks are identified, assessed and appropriately managed. Where
necessary, the Board draws on the expertise of appropriate external consultants to assist in dealing with or mitigating risk.
The Board is responsible for approving and overseeing the risk management system. The Board reviews, at least annually, the
effectiveness of the implementation of the risk management controls and procedures.
The principle aim of the system of internal control is the management of business risks, with a view to enhancing the value of
shareholders' investments and safeguarding assets. Although no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance
that the business risks will be fully mitigated, the internal control systems have been designed to meet the Company's specific
needs and the risks to which it is exposed.
Annually, the Board is responsible for identifying the risks facing the Company, assessing the risks and ensuring that there are
controls for these risks, which are to be designed to ensure that any identified risk is reduced to an acceptable level.
The Board is also responsible for identifying and monitoring areas of significant business risk. Internal control measures
currently adopted by the Board include:



at least quarterly reporting to the Board in respect of operations and the Company’s financial position, with a comparison
of actual results against budget; and
regular reports to the Board by appropriate members of the management team and/or independent advisers, outlining the
nature of particular risks and highlighting measures which are either in place or can be adopted to manage or mitigate
those risks.

Risk management roles and responsibilities
The Board is responsible for approving and reviewing the Company’s risk management strategy and policy. Executive
management is responsible for implementing the Board approved risk management strategy and developing policies, controls,
processes and procedures to identify and manage risks in all of the Company’s activities.
The Board is responsible for satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a sound system of risk
management and internal control.
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6(c)

6(d)

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certification
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, or equivalent, provide to the Board written certification that in all
material respects:




The Company’s financial statements present a true and fair view of the Company’s financial condition and operational
results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards;
The statement given to the Board on the integrity of the Company’s financial statements is founded on a sound system of
risk management and internal compliance and controls which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and
The Company’s risk management an internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all
material respects.

Internal review and risk evaluation
Assurance is provided to the Board by executive management on the adequacy and effectiveness of management controls for
risk on a regular basis.
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Consolidated

Interest received – Other

Note
2

Depreciation expense
Loss on scrapping of property, plant and equipment
Net Impairment of available‐for‐sale‐investment
Exploration expenditure written off
Funding facility fees
Administration expenditure

Loss before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit

2
3

Net loss for the year

2015
$

2014
$
3

1,164

(826)
(2,603)
55,092
(2,278,358)
(223,467)
(626,757)

(7,966)
(11,706)
49,831
(54,152)
(240,188)
(734,490)

(3,076,916)
‐

(1,097,169)
‐

(3,076,916)

(1,097,169)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Unrecognised loss on available‐for‐sale financial assets
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Derecognition of available‐for‐sale financial assets reserve

(70,578)

49,831

Total other comprehensive loss

(70,578)

(3,666)

(3,147,494)

(1,100,835)

(0.14)

(0.08)

(53,497)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of Leopard Resources NL
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share)

4

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

Note

5
6

2015
$

2014
$

6,348
5,524

42,316
‐

11,872

42,316

2,500
5,262
36,848
‐

2,500
20,748
40,277
2,086,488

Total Non‐Current Assets

44,610

2,150,013

Total Assets

56,482

2,192,329

1,103,293
660,000

755,788
313,561

Total Current Liabilities

1,763,293

1,069,349

Total Liabilities

1,763,293

1,069,349

(1,706,811 )

1,122,980

50,019,941
968,849
(52,695,601)

49,702,238
1,039,427
(49,618,685)

(1,706,811)

1,122,980

Total Current Assets

Non‐Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Available‐for‐sale financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred exploration expenditure

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

6
7
8
9

10
11

Net (Liabilities) / Assets

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total Equity

12
13

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Issued
Capital
$

Share
Based
Payments
Reserve
$

Consolidated
Available ‐
for‐sale
Financial
Assets
Convertible
Revaluation
Notes
Reserve
Reserve
$
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

Total
Equity
$

Balance at 30 June 2013
Net Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year

47,841,097
‐
‐
‐

968,849
‐
‐
‐

74,244
‐
(3,666)
(3,666)

5,922
‐
‐
‐

(48,521,516)
(1,097,169)
‐
(1,097,169)

368,596
(1,097,169)
(3,666)
(1,100,835)

Securities issued during the year
Expenses of issue
Equity component of convertible note

1,874,573
(13,432)
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
(5,922)

‐
‐
‐

1,874,573
(13,432)
(5,922)

49,702,238

968,849

70,578

‐

(49,618,685)

1,122,980

Consolidated
Available ‐
for‐sale
Financial
Assets
Convertible
Revaluation
Notes
Reserve
Reserve
$
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

Balance at 30 June 2014

Issued
Capital
$

Share
Based
Payments
Reserve
$

Total
Equity
$

Balance at 30 June 2014
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year

49,702,238
‐
‐
‐

968,849
‐
‐
‐

70,578
‐
(70,578)
(70,578)

‐
‐
‐
‐

(49,618,685)
(3,076,916)
‐
(3,076,916)

1,122,980
(3,076,916)
(70,578)
(3,147,494)

Securities issued during the year
Expenses of issue
Placement funds received‐Unissued
Equity component of convertible note

300,000
‐
17,703
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

300,000
‐
17,703
‐

50,019,941

968,849

‐

‐

(52,695,601)

(1,706,811)

Balance at 30 June 2015

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest paid
Interest received

2015
$

2014
$

(230,775)
(22,618)
3

(709,197)
(145,498)
1,164

(253,390)

(853,531)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment of exploration expenditure

(191,870)

(1,058,368)

Net cash used in investing activities

(191,870)

(1,058,368)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from securities issues
Securities issue transaction costs
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

17,703
‐
391,589
‐

1,824,047
(13,432)
269,397
(307,603)

Net cash provided by financing activities

409,292

1,772,409

Net (decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of year

(35,968)
42,316

(139,490)
181,806

6,348

42,316

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash at end of year

5 (a)

5

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general‐purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations and complies with other requirements of the law.
The accounting policies detailed below have been consistently applied to all of the years presented unless otherwise stated. The
financial statements are for the Group consisting of Leopard Resources NL and its subsidiaries.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs, except for available‐for‐sale financial
assets which have been measured at fair value. Cost is based on fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.
Leopard Resources NL is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the
Australian Securities Exchange. The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are mineral exploration and
investment.
Adoption of new and revised standards
In the year ended 30 June 2015, the Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by
the AASB that are relevant to the Group’s operations and effective for the current annual reporting period.
It has been determined by the Directors that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards and
Interpretations on the Group’s business and, therefore, no change is necessary to Group accounting policies.
The Directors have also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
year ended 30 June 2015. As a result of this review the Directors have determined that there is no impact, material or otherwise,
of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s business and, therefore, no change necessary to Group
accounting policies.
Statement of Compliance
The financial report was authorised for issue on 23rd September 2015.
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report comprising the financial
statements and notes thereto, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Going Concern
The ability of the Group to continue to pay its debts as and when they fall due is dependent upon the Company successfully
raising additional share capital and the continued support of related parties.
Notwithstanding the fact that the Company has a working capital deficiency of $1,751,421 and net liability position of
$1,706,811 the directors are of the opinion that the company is a going concern for the following reasons:
.
 The Directors have an appropriate plan to raise additional funds as and when it is required. In light of the status of the
Group’s current exploration projects, the Directors believe that the additional capital required can be raised in the market;
and
 Directors have provided their support to the Company by providing agreements to not call upon the Company for payment
of outstanding debts until the Company is in a position to repay or convert into equity.
Should the Directors not be able to raise sufficient additional funds or continue to defer payments of outstanding debts there is
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern and
therefore whether it will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in
the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.
The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability or classification of recorded asset amounts,
or to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not be able to continue as a going
concern.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(e) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial statements of Leopard Resources NL (“Company” or “Parent
Entity”) and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2015.

(f)

(g)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent
accounting policies.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit
and losses resulting from intra‐Group transactions have been eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Control exists where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing when the Group controls another
entity.
Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in
the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and any no‐controlling interests.
When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group has directly disposed of the relevant assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss of transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable Standards). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: recognition and Measurement’ or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured.
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as described
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(h)

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An
allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts. Bad
debts are written off when identified.

(i)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance date whether a financial asset or Group of financial assets is impaired.
(i)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through use of an allowance account.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(j)

The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is
included in a Group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that Group of financial assets is collectively
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date.
(ii) Financial assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value (because its fair value cannot be reliably measured), or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment loss shall not be reversed in subsequent periods.
(iii) Available‐for‐sale investments
If there is objective evidence that an available‐for‐sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Reversals of impairment losses for equity
instruments classified as available‐for‐sale are not recognised in profit. Reversals of impairment losses for debt instruments are
reversed through profit or loss if the increase in an instrument's fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.
Foreign currency translation
Both the functional and presentation currency of Leopard Resources NL and its controlled entities is Australian dollars. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance date.
All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to profit or loss with the exception of differences on
foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. These are taken directly to equity
until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss.
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognised in equity.
Non‐monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as
at the date of the initial transaction.
Non‐monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined.
As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Leopard
Resources NL at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance date and their statements of comprehensive income are translated at
the weighted average exchange rate for the year.
The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity.
On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in profit or loss.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(k) Income Tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(l)

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance date.
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:



when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; or
when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint
ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry‐forward of unused tax assets and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carry‐forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:



when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or
when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint
ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance date.
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:



when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in
the Statement of Financial Position.

Page 32

Leopard Resources NL
Annual Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

For personal use only

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(l) Other tax (cont’d)
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash
flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(m) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

(n)

Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
Plant and equipment – over 3 to 5 years
The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial
year end.
(i)
Impairment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable amount being
estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre‐tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for the cash‐generating
unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset's value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash‐generating units exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
The asset or cash‐generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount.
For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the cost of sales line
item.
(ii) Derecognition and disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
Financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held‐to‐maturity investments, or available‐for‐sale investments,
as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transactions costs. The Group determines the classification of its
financial assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re‐evaluates this designation at each financial year‐
end.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits to
purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts that require
delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
(i)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on investments
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(n) Financial assets (cont’d)
(ii)
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(o)

(iii) Available‐for‐sale investments
Available‐for‐sale investments are those non‐derivative financial assets that are designated as available‐for‐sale or are not
classified as any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition available‐for sale investments are measured at fair
value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance date. For investments with no active market, fair value is
determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the
current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing
models.
(iv) Held‐to‐maturity investments
Non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held‐to‐maturity when
the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are
not included in this classification. Investments that are intended to be held‐to‐maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount and
the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For investments carried at
amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.
Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of similar assets) is derecognised when:
 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
 the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or
 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
 has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
 has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration received
that the Group could be required to repay.
When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash‐settled option or similar
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that
the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash‐settled option or similar provision)
on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of
the transferred asset and the option exercise price.
(ii) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such as an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(p) Interest‐bearing loans and borrowings

(q)

(r)

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.
The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible note is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non‐
convertible note. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of
the note. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognised and included in shareholder’s
equity, net of income tax effects.
Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred
to another party and the consideration paid, including any non‐cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss as other income or finance costs.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.
Exploration and Evaluation
Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration and
evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied:
(i)
(ii)

the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and
at least one of the following conditions is also met:
(a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and
exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or
(b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a
reasonable assessment of the existence, or otherwise, of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant
operations in, or relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, exploratory
drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation and amortisation of assets used in
exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of exploration and
evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational activities in a particular area of interest.
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of
an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the exploration and
evaluation asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger than the relevant area of interest)
is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in previous years.
Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant
exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified to development.
Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
Groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for
impairment as part of the cash‐generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash‐generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash‐generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(r) Impairment of assets (cont’d)
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre‐tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to
continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the
asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease).
An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised
in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less
any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(s)

Trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the
Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months.

(t)

Employee leave benefits
Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non‐monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of
the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(u) Share‐based payment transactions
Equity settled transactions:
The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share‐based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity‐settled transactions).
When provided, the cost of these equity‐settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model.
In valuing equity‐settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the shares of Leopard Resources NL (market conditions) if applicable.
The cost of equity‐settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully
entitled to the award (the vesting period).
The cumulative expense recognised for equity‐settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these
conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The Statement of Comprehensive Income charge or credit
for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a
market condition.
If the terms of an equity‐settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share‐based
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(u) Share‐based payment transactions (cont’d)

(v)

If an equity‐settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share
(see Note 4).
Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(w) Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of the Company.

(x)

(y)

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit/loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of
servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares, adjusted for any bonus element.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit/loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:




costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;
the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised
as expenses; and
other non‐discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential
ordinary shares; divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares,
adjusted for any bonus element.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if it effects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward
The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is set out at Note 1(q). The application of this policy
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances. Any such estimates
and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after having capitalised expenditure under the policy, it
is concluded that the expenditures are unlikely to be recovered by future exploitation or sale, then the relevant capitalised
amount will be written off to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Impairment of available‐for‐sale financial assets
The Group follows the guidance of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to determine when an
available‐for‐sale financial asset is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the
Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost and
the financial health of and short‐term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector
performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
(z) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements,
except as set out below.

2

(i)
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the parent entity’s financial
statements. Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted
from the carrying amount of these investments.
(ii)
Share‐based payments
The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is
treated as a capital contribution to that subsidiary undertaking. The fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
Consolidated
2015
$

REVENUE AND EXPENSES

(a) Interest Received ‐ Other
Interest received – financial institutions
(b)

3

1,164

34,168

48,654

(3,076,916)

(1,097,169)

(923,075)

(329,151)

‐
923,075

‐
329,151

‐

‐

6,520,391
1,847,304

5,597,316
1,847,304

8,367,695

7,444,620

214,784

214,784

Expenses

ASX and share registry fees

3

2014
$

INCOME TAX

(a) Income tax benefit
The prima facie income tax benefit on pre‐tax accounting loss from operations
reconciles to the income tax benefit in the financial statements as follows:
Loss for year
Prima facie income tax benefit at 30%
Tax effect of non‐deductible items
Deferred tax assets not brought to account
Total income tax benefit

(b) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets not brought to account arising from tax losses:
Revenue losses
Capital losses

Balance of Franking account at year end – Class C
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Deductible temporary differences and tax losses do not expire under current legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise these
benefits.

4

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)
2015
Cents

Basic loss per share

2014
Cents
(0.14)

(0.08)

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
of basic earnings per share is as follows:
Net loss for year used in total basic EPS

$

$

(3,076,916)

(1,097,169)

No

No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of Basic EPS
2,178,348,979
1,293,747,074
There are no potential ordinary shares on issue that are considered to be dilutive, therefore basic earnings per share also represents
diluted earnings per share.

5

Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank

6,348

42,316

(3,076,916)

(1,097,169)

826
(55,092)
2,603
2,278,358
200,849
‐

7,966
49,831
‐
54,152
94,690
11,706

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in accounts receivable
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable

(5,524)
401,506

16,515
8,778

Net cash flows used in operating activities

(253,390)

(853,531)

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
(a)

Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flows used in operating activities

Loss for the year
Non‐Cash Items
Depreciation expense
Net impairment on available‐for‐sale assets
Property, plant and equipment scrapped
Exploration & evaluation expenditure written off
Borrowing costs
Loss made on disposal of property, plant and equipment
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Consolidated

6

2015
$

2014
$

5,524

‐

2,500

2,500

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current
Other receivables

Non‐current
Deposit

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:



7

Other receivables are non‐interest bearing and generally repayable within 30 days.
Due to the short‐term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

AVAILABLE‐FOR‐SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non‐current
Listed shares at fair value

5,262

20,748

56,538
(19,690)

90,528
(50,251)

36,848

40,277

40,277

Listed shares are readily saleable with no fixed terms.
All shares held in listed companies are valued at their fair value.

8

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment ‐ at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount
Reconciliation
Balance at beginning of year, net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation

(2,603)
(826)

59,949
‐
(11,706)
(7,966)

Balance at end of year, net of accumulated depreciation

36,848

40,277
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Consolidated

9

2015
$

2014
$

‐

2,086,488

2,086,488
‐
191,870
2,278,358
(2,278,358)

1,082,272
‐
1,058,368
2,140,640
(54,152)

‐

2,086,488

DEFERRED EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE

Exploration and evaluation phase ‐ at cost
Mineral properties

Reconciliation
Balance at beginning of year
Acquisition of tenements
Expenditure incurred
Expenditure Impaired

Balance at end of year

The recoupment of costs carried forward in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and evaluation phase is dependent on the
successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas.
As noted in the review of operations the EL covering deferred exploration expired in March 2015. The Company is currently taking
steps to have the EL re‐instated. Due to the uncertainty of tenure the exploration asset has been impaired to nil.

10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current
Trade payables and accruals – 3rd parties
Trade payables and accruals – key management personnel

390,963
712,330

470,160
285,628

1,103,293

755,788

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:



Trade creditors are non‐interest bearing and are normally settled on 30‐90 day terms.
Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

11 BORROWINGS
Current
Loans – unsecured (a)
Loan – unsecured (b)
Loan –unsecured

600,000
50,000
10,000

313,561
‐
‐

660,000

313,561

(a)

Represents a loan which is secured by a Company’s fixed and floating charge over the Company and its assets. The lender has a
charge in place over all present and after acquired property of the Company. Repayment shall be 6 months from 1 August
2014 and shall be due on 31 January 2015, unless some default, termination or payment condition is triggered pursuant to the
original agreement. Subsequent to balance an agreement has been reached in regards to settlement.

(b)

The loan is unsecured and bears interest rate at 10% p.a.
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Proceeds of issue
Liability component at date of issue

‐
‐

300,000
(294,078)

Equity component
‐
The movement on the equity component of Nil (2014: $5,922) has been debited to share option reserve.

5,922

Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

12 ISSUED CAPITAL
(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares fully paid
Ordinary shares of 10 cents paid to 8 cents
Ordinary shares to be issued

(b)

46,802,238
3,200,000
17,703

46,502,238
3,200,000
‐

50,019,941

49,702,238

2015
Number of
Shares

2014
$

Number of
Shares

$

Movement in ordinary shares on issue

(i)
Ordinary shares fully paid
Balance at beginning of year
Placement to repay loans
Issue of shares for cash
Issue of shares in satisfaction of tenement acquisition
Issue of shares for cash
Conversion of loans
Expense of issue
Less expense of issue

2,073,350,092
300,000,000
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

46,502,238
300,000
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

815,748,565

43,991,097

34,000,000
130,000,000
111,940,725
881,660,802
100,000,000
‐

102,000
650,000
223,881
1,398,692
150,000
(13,432)

Balance at year end

2,373,350,092

46,802,238

2,073,350,092

46,502,238

(ii) Ordinary shares partly paid
Balance at beginning of year

4,000,000

3,200,000

4,000,000

3,200,000

Balance at end of year

4,000,000

3,200,000

4,000,000

3,200,000

(iii) Unissued shares
Balance at beginning of year
Shares to be issued in satisfaction of placement
funds/tenement acquisition

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
130,000,000

‐
650,000

17,703,000

17,703

(130,000,000)

(650,000)

Balance at year end

17,703,000

17,703

‐

‐

2,395,053,092

50,019,941

2,077,350,092

49,702,238,238

4,000,000

800,000

4,000,000

800,000

Total ordinary share capital
(c)

Uncalled Capital

Shares of 10 cents paid to 8 cents

(d)

Share Options at 30 June 2015

Unlisted Options

Number

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

696,666,667

0.5 cents

5 September 2015
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(e) Terms and conditions of contributed equity
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the
proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares
entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.
Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

13 RESERVES

Reserves
Share‐based payments reserve (i)
Available‐for‐sale financial assets revaluation reserve (ii)
Convertible note reserve (iii)

14

968,849
‐
‐

968,849
70,578
‐

968,849

1,039,427

(i) Share – Based Payments reserve
The share – based payments reserve is used to accumulate proceeds received from the issue of options and records items
recognised as expenses on valuation of share options.
(ii) Available – For‐sale Reserve
This reserve reflects fair value changes on available‐for‐sale financial assets.
(iii) Convertible Note Reserve
This reflects the equity portion of Convertible Notes.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company operates predominantly in one business segment, namely the acquisition and exploration of uranium/gold properties.
The Company operated predominantly in two geographical segments being Australia and the United States of America in the prior
year.
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the chief operating
decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance.
The reportable segments are based on aggregated operating segments determined by the similarity of the economic characteristics,
the nature of the activities and the regulatory environment in which those segments operate.

In the prior year the Group had two reportable segments based on the geographical areas of the mineral resource and exploration
activities in Australia and the United States of America. Unallocated results, assets and liabilities represent corporate amounts that are
not core to the reportable segments.
Information regarding these segments is presented below. The accounting policies of the reported segments are the same as the
group accounting policies.
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The following tables are an analysis of the group’s revenues and results by the reportable segment of the chief decision maker for the
year ended 30 June 2014.

Year ended 30 June 2014
Segment revenue
Segment loss before tax
Segment assets

United States
of America
(Nacimiento
Project)
$

Australia
(Missions
Cables
Project)
$

Republic of
Argentina
(Lithium
Project)

Unallocated
$

Total
$

‐

‐

‐

1,164

1,164

51,152

3,000

‐

1,043,017

1,097,169

2,086,488

‐

‐

105,841

2,192,329

‐

‐

‐

1,069,349

1,069,349

Segment liabilities

15 COMMITMENTS
The Company has no capital commitments.
Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

16 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPLORATION EXPENDIURE

Not later than one year
After one year but not more than 5 years

‐
‐

102,000
‐

‐

102,000

17 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2015, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
18 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Amount received or due and receivable by the auditors of the Group for:
Auditing or reviewing the financial statements

Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$
35,250

34,000

35,250

34,000
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(a)
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Leopard Resources NL and the subsidiaries listed in the
following table.

Denny Dalton (Pty) Ltd
Energy Company of America LLC

Country of Incorporation

Republic of South Africa
United States of America

Equity Interest
2015
2014
%
%
100
100
100
100

Investment at cost
2015
2014
$
$
6,000,000
6,000,000
1,650,000
1,650,000

(b)
Parent entity
Leopard Resources NL is the ultimate Australian parent entity and ultimate parent of the Group.

(c)
Other related party transactions
The terms and conditions of transactions with Directors and their Director‐related entities were no more favourable than those
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non‐director related entities on an arm’s
length basis.
The aggregate amount recognised during the year to Directors and their Director‐related entities were as follows:

Craig Willis
Rent expense of $76,082 (excluding GST) (2014:$60,200) was paid to Mr Willis’ related company Giarc Investments Pty Ltd during the
year. $359,992 (excluding GST) (2014:$135,411) remains unpaid in respect of Director and consulting fees and rental payments.
Richard Griffin
$120,931 (excluding GST) (2014:$44,697) remains unpaid in respect of Director fees and consulting fees.

Doug Spinley
$152,790 (excluding GST) (2014:$40,165) remains unpaid in respect of Directors and Consulting fees.
Jason Ferris
$10,500 (excluding GST) remains unpaid in respect of Directors Fees
Blaise Thomas
$10,333 (excluding GST) remains unpaid in respect of Directors Fees
Graham Chapman
$7,742 (excluding GST) remains unpaid in respect of Directors Fees
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Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

20 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

Financial Position
Assets
Current Assets
Non‐current asset

11,871
44,611

42,316
2,150,013

Total assets

56,482

2,192,329

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Non‐current liabilities

1,763,293
‐

1,069,349
‐

Total liabilities

1,763,293

1,069,349

50,019,941
968,849
(52,695,601)

49,702,238
1,039,427
(49,618,685)

Total equity

(1,706,811)

1,122,980

Financial Performance
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss

(3,076,916)
(70,578)

(1,097,169)
(3,666)

Total comprehensive loss

(3,147,494)

(1,100,835)

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

21 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

Short‐Term employee benefits
Post Employment benefits
Equity based benefits

405,339
7,872
‐

485,912
25,866
‐

Total compensation

413,211

511,778

.
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The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise of cash and short‐term deposits, trade and other receivables and available‐for‐
sale financial assets. The Company manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Company’s financial risk
management policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Company’s financial targets while protecting future
financial security.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.
The Group does not speculate in the trading of derivative instruments. The Company uses different methods to measure and manage
different types of risks to which it is exposed. These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates and assessments of market
forecasts for interest rates. Ageing analysis of and monitoring of receivables are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is
monitored through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Board. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of the risks identified below, including for interest rate risk, credit allowances and cash flow forecast projections.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in
note 1 to the financial statements.
Risk Exposures and Responses

Interest rate risk
The Company’s exposure to risks of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s cash balances. The Company
constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of existing positions,
alternative financing positions and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. As the Company has no variable rate interest bearing
borrowings its exposure to interest rate movements is limited to the amount of interest income it can potentially earn on surplus cash
deposits. The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance date.

At balance date, the following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non‐derivative financial assets. These have been
drawn up based on undiscounted contractual maturities on the financial instruments including interest that will be earned on these
instruments.

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (interest‐bearing accounts)
Trade and other receivables
Available‐for‐sale financial assets

Consolidated
2015
$

2014
$

6,348
5,524
5,262

42,316
‐
20,748

17,134

63,064

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance date.
At 30 June 2015, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post tax
profit/loss and equity relating to financial assets of the Group would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements:
Post tax profit/(loss) – higher / (lower)
+ 100 basis points
‐ 100 basis points

63
(63)

42
(42)

Equity – higher / (lower)
+ 100 basis points
‐ 100 basis points

63
(63)

42
(42)
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Liquidity Risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring immediate and forecast cash requirements and ensuring adequate cash reserves are
maintained or available to the Group.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Company, which comprise of deposits with banks and trade and other receivables.
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, with the maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amount of these instruments. The carrying amount of financial assets included in the Statement of Financial Position
represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to those assets.
The Company does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.
The Company trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and as such collateral is not requested nor is it the Company’s
policy to secure it trade and other receivables.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Company does not have a significant exposure to bad
debts.
The Company’s cash deposits are held with a major Australian banking institution otherwise, there are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Company.

The following table details the expected maturity of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities based on the earliest date of maturity or
payment respectively. The amounts are stated on an undiscounted basis and include interest.

Year ended 30 June 2014
Financial Assets
Non‐interest bearing
Variable interest rate
Fixed interest rate

Financial Liabilities
Non‐interest bearing
Fixed interest rate

Year ended 30 June 2015
Financial Assets
Non‐interest bearing
Variable interest rate
Fixed interest rate
Financial Liabilities
Non‐interest bearing
Fixed interest rate

Consolidated
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

0.1%

10%

Less than 1
month
$

3 months – 1
year
$

1 – 3 Months
$

1 – 5 years
$

20,748
42,316

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

63,064

‐

‐

‐

755,788
‐

‐
‐

‐
313,561

‐
‐

755,788

‐

313,561

‐

Consolidated
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%
‐
0.1%
‐

‐
10%

Less than 1
month
$

3 months – 1
year
$

1 – 3 Months
$

1 – 5 years
$

5,262
6,348
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

11,610

‐

‐

‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
660,000

‐
‐

‐

‐

660,000

‐
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Capital Management Risk
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maximise the return to shareholders and ensure that the Group can fund its
operations and continue as a going concern.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in
response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of expenditure and debt levels and
share and option issues.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control capital of the Group since the prior year.

Commodity Price Risk
The Group’s exposure to price risk is minimal given the Group current activities.
Fair value
This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and liabilities.




Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and key input(s) used).

Financial assets:
Available‐for‐sale financial assets:
‐ listed investments

Financial assets:
Borrowings

Fair Value
at
30 June
2014

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

Relationship
of
unobservable
input(s) to fair
value

Fair Value at
30 June
2015

Fair Value
Hierarchy

Valuation
Technique(s)
and key
input(s)

$20,478

$5,262

Level 1

Share price

None

None

‐

$660,000

Level 1

Interest rate
of similar
convertible
notes

None

None

If the above unobservable inputs to the valuation model were 10% higher/lower while all the other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the available for sale assets and convertible notes would decrease/increase by an immaterial amount.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the period.
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
All gains and losses included in other comprehensive income relate to available for sale assets and convertible notes held at the
balance date are reported as changes of financial assets revaluation reserve and convertible note reserve.
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Subsequent to the year‐end the company has entered into an agreement to acquire G8 Communications Limited (“G8”) an investment
company holding various wireless technology assets including the 100% ownership of Connected IO (“CIO”), a highly prospective next
generation wireless technology business. G8 was originally formed to hold its investment in the wireless technology known as ICU
Wireless Intercoms, however G8 has expanded through aligning itself with wireless technical experts in the USA and Taiwan and now
has a range of wireless products.
CIO is a next generation wireless technology business based in Silicon Valley, California which has developed a flagship product being
the Machine Connect modem. CIO has fully developed and is now marketing this unique machine to machine (“M2M”) device for
intelligent connectivity between machines.
M2M is a term that can be used to describe any technology that enables networked devices to exchange information and perform
actions without the manual assistance of humans.

The M2M phenomenon is accelerating and has the potential to affect about every device requiring connection to the internet. CIO’s
technology is mobile, rugged and has enormous versatility. It uses a cloud management platform to provide a way to connect
enterprise machine assets such as vending machines, ATM’s, lights, household appliances, digital signage, security systems, energy
management systems and drones to the internet.
It is a scalable end‐to‐end solution that enables customers to roll out M2M solutions in a timely, streamlined and cost‐effective
manner.
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a)

the accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i)

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance for the year ended
on that date; and

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards the Corporations Regulations 2001, professional reporting requirements
and other mandatory requirements,
b)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

c)

the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with Section
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

This declaration is signed In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mr C Willis
Director
Perth, 23rd September 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of Leopard Resources NL
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Leopard Resources NL (“the company”),
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement
of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration for the Group. The Group comprises the
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In Note 1(c), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101:
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or
management.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) ABN 22 193 232 714
Level 4, 130 Stirling Street Perth WA 6000. PO Box 8124 Perth BC 6849 Telephone +61 (08) 9227 7500. Fax +61 (08) 9227 7533.
Email: hlb@hlbwa.com.au. Website: http://www.hlb.com.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of

International, a worldwide organisation of accounting firms and business advisers.

52

For personal use only

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

(b)

the financial report of Leopard Resources NL is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
and

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in Note 1(c).

Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(d) to the financial report which indicates
that the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the Group
successfully raising additional share capital. If the Group is unable to raise additional share capital,
there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June
2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion the remuneration report of Leopard Resources NL for the year ended 30 June 2015
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

HLB Mann Judd
Chartered Accountants

N G Neill
Partner

Perth, Western Australia
23 September 2015
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Information Relating to Shareholders and Option holders at 22nd September 2015
Ordinary Shares
Fully Paid
3,856

1

Number of shareholders

2

Distribution of shareholders:
Category

1 ‐ 1,000
1,001 ‐ 5,000
5,001 ‐ 10,000
10,001 ‐ 100,000
100,001 and over

Total on issue

Ordinary Shares
Partly Paid
56

842
1,256
448
848
410

27
5
5
11
8

3,804

56

2,035,415,232

4,000,000

Shareholders with unmarketable parcel

3,584

3

Percentage of the 20 largest holders

4

Voting rights

Ordinary fully paid shares ‐ upon show of hands one vote for every registered shareholder and upon a poll, one vote for
each share held.

Contributing shares ‐ upon a poll proportional to the called up capital.

Options – Options have no voting rights until such options are exercised as fully paid shares.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

56.84%

97.85%

18.

WILLIS HOLDINGS LIMITED
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED
MARAVAL INVESTMENTS LLC
RENFORD CONSULTANTS LIMITED
RENFORD CONSULTANTS LIMITED
WAKEFIELD INVESTMENTS LLC
MR PETER JOHN BARTTER
JOHN WARDMAN & ASSOCIATES PTY LTD <THE
WARDMAN SUPER FUND A/C>
TYCHE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD
STORMS SNOW CLOUD PTY LTD <BATTLE SUPER
FUND A/C>
708 CAPITAL PTY LTD
KING GEORGE V NOMINEES
MR ROBERT LESLIE NELSON
GROUP SEVENTY THREE PTY LTD
MANDEVILLA PTY LTD
COCOON CAPITAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED
EMERALD
LAKE
PTY
LTD
<BG
PAULL
SUPERANNUATION A/C>
NYONI CONSULTING PL LLC

19.

TYCHE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <LB TRADING A/C>

24,000,000

1.00

20.

STERLING COMMODITIES INVESTMENTS LIMITED

22,000,000

0.92

1,520,863,923

63.61

870,189,169

36.39

8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

Totals: Top 20 holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES
(TOTAL)
Total Remaining Holders Balance

318,345,206
249,083,790
139,612,785
127,000,000
108,355,841
100,000,000
80,000,000

13.31
10.42
5.84
5.31
4.53
4.18
3.35

52,213,132

2.18

35,000,000

1.46

34,977,169

1.46

34,976,000
34,000,000
31,250,000
30,000,000
25,050,000
25,000,000

1.46
1.42
1.31
1.25
1.05
1.05

25,000,000

1.05

25,000,000

1.05
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20 Largest Ordinary Partly Paid Shareholders

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

CORRIDOR NOMINEES PTY LTD
GEB CAPITAL LIMITED
MS TINA BAZZO
JADE ASSET PTY LTD
WATERSHORE HOLDINGS PTY LTD
RUBY NET PTY LTD
MR SCOTT JAMES DUNCAN &
MS MELISSA ANNE VORLICEK
MRS DAGMAR BLOCHLOVA
MR SCOTT JAMES DUNCAN &
CLELAND PROJECTS PTY LTD
MRS MARGARET DOWNES
MR SCOTT JAMES DUNCAN &
KELANCO PTY LTD
MR JEREMY ROBERT POCKLEY
SUMMERSET INVESTMENTS PTY LTD
MR JOHN CHARLES GEARY
EDENKEY NOMINEES PTY LTD
MS MELISSA ANN VORLICEK
MRS EMMA JANE COURTNEY BAXTER

7

Substantial Shareholders
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6

8

Number

%

1,760,590
500,000
351,000
201,000
148,000
140,000
120,000
120,000
90,000
90,000
74,500
59,000
50,000
50,000
46,000
40,000
35,000
15,000
14,000
10,000
3,914,090

44.01
12.50
8.78
5.03
3.70
3.50
3.00
3.00
2.25
2.25
1.86
1.48
1.25
1.25
1.15
1.00
0.88
0.38
0.35
0.25
97.87

The Company has been notified of the following substantial shareholdings:
Number
318,345,206
249,083,790
139,612,785

WILLIS HOLDINGS LIMITED
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED
MARAVAL INVESTMENTS LLC

Unlisted Options

Share Options at 30 June 2015
Unlisted Options

Number
696,666,667

9

Restricted Securities
There are no restricted securities or securities subject to voluntary escrow.

10

On‐market Buy‐back
Currently there is no on‐market buy‐back of the Company’s securities.

11

Summary of Mining Interests as at 30 June 2015

Exercise Price
0.5 cents

Expiry Date
5 September 2015

The Company confirms that the following two tenements have been relinquished:
 Maroochydore Project, Western Australia EL45/2475
 Los Pinos Nacimiento Copper Uranium Project, New Mexico, USA.
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